ORIGINAL

THOMAS D. HALL AUG 0 7 2000

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC., a Florida corporation,

CASE NO.: SC00-1582

Petitioner,

V.

4DCA Case No.: 4D99-2898

Florida Bar No. 773476

NASAD AZAM, SAFEEIA AZAM,
TOM BELL, HOPE BELL, SCOTT
M. DOLBEARE, MARY E. RYAN,
ASIF ISLAM, REBECCA ISLAM,
CHARLES KATZKER, SUSAN KATZKER,
LOUIS LAMM, DARA LAMM, EDWARD
McCAULEY, JEANETTE McCAULEY,
and ARTHUR SHUSHAN,

Respondents.	

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. (WITH APPENDIX)

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Between December of 1995 and August of 1998, the several Plaintiffs, PURCHASERS herein, each entered into an "Agreement For Sale Of House And Lot", with the Petitioner M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. Each of these Real Estate Contracts were for the sale and purchase of houses and lots located in the Brindlewood Subdivision, at or near Wellington, Palm Beach County, Florida. Each commercial transaction closed, resulting in the transfer of the Real Property from M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. to each PURCHASER.

The gravamen of PURCHASERS' claims is an alleged misrepresentation by an agent or employee of M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. that two (2) parcels of land directly across the roadway which ran in front of the entrance to the "Brindlewood Subdivision", were to be used as "preserve acreage" or "open space acreage." In fact, and in reality, the Palm Beach County Site Plan dated September 11, 1989, (A5) indicates that one fifteen (15) acre parcel was designated to be developed as a school, and the other twenty-one (21) acre parcel was zoned for commercial development and use. PURCHASERS' Complaint and Initial Brief below concede that at all times material the Site Plan was available in the Public Records of Palm Beach County.

According to Count I of PURCHASERS' Complaint, the Site Plan was in the public

records within various Palm Beach County offices at the time of the alleged "misrepresentations."

On July 20, 1999 the trial court entered its Order granting M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC.'s Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice. PURCHASERS timely appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal which reversed the dismissal with prejudice of the Count alleging fraud in the inducement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

With respect to fraud in the inducement, it is impossible to state a cause of action based upon allegations that M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. made false misrepresentations about possible future speculative development or non-development of nearby real estate owned or controlled by Palm Beach County. Public property records were accessible to the PURCHASERS. <u>Pressman v. Wolf</u>, 732 So.2d 356, 361 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999) held that statements concerning the public record cannot form the basis of a claim for actionable fraud.

In the present case, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the alleged misrepresentations were made, they were of such character that even a cursory glance at the Site Plan would have disclosed the falsity of the representation. That being so, its falsity was obvious and under <u>Besset v. Basnett</u>, 389 So.2d 995, 997 (Fla. 1980) the PURCHASERS were

not therefore justified in relying on its truth. The misrepresentation was not actionable because PURCHASERS are charged with knowledge of the Public Records.

Therefore, the decision of the Fourth District conflicts with these cases.

PURCHASERS concede the Site Plan was contained within the public records of various governmental offices including the Palm Beach County Engineering Department, Palm Beach County Health Department, Palm Beach County Attorney, Palm Beach County Zoning Division, and Palm Beach County Building Division.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another District Court of Appeal on the same point of law. Art. V Section 3(b)(3) Fla. Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997) and Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356, 361 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999), which held that statements concerning the public record cannot form the basis for a claim of actionable fraud; and with the Supreme Court's decision in Besset v. Basnett, 389 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 1980) holding that a recipient may rely on the truth of a representation, even though its falsity could have been ascertained had he made an investigation, unless he knows the misrepresentation to be false or its falsity is obvious to him.

PURCHASERS' cause of action for fraud in the inducement, or intentional misrepresentation must fail, as it is impossible for PURCHASERS to state a cause of action based upon the allegation that an agent or employee of M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. made false misrepresentations about the possible future speculative development (or non-development) of nearby real estate owned or controlled by Palm Beach County. Statements concerning the Public Record can not form the basis for a claim of actionable fraud. The trial court correctly relied upon the case of Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3rd DCA), rev. denied, 744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999) in determining PURCHASERS' Complaint failed to state a cause of action, and furthermore, that it could not be amended to allege a cause of action. In Pressman, the purchaser entered into a contract for the sale of residential property "as is" with no warranty provisions as to the home's air conditioning system and pool. warranted that there were no facts known to Seller materially affecting the value of the Real Property which were not readily observable by Buyer or which had not been disclosed to Buyer. The Pressman Contract also had a Merger Clause labeled "Other Agreements" which provided that no prior or present agreement or representation was binding upon Buyer or Seller unless included in the Contract. The Purchaser in <u>Pressman</u> had pre-closing inspections done on the air conditioner and pool which outlined the problems with both. A pre-closing representation that the home could be

representation that an "eye-sore" building would be torn down by the City was also not included in the Contract. In ruling that recovery was barred under a theory of fraudulent misrepresentation, the Third District referred to Besset v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995, 997 (Fla. 1980) which adopted at its holding Sections 540 and 541, Restatement Second of Torts, as being directly applicable to this type of case:

s 540. Duty to investigate.

The recipient of a fraudulent representation of fact is justified in relying upon its truth, although he might have ascertained the falsity of the representation had he made an investigation.

Comment:

a. ...On the other hand, if a mere cursory glance would have disclosed the falsity of the representation, its falsity is regarded as obvious under the rule stated in s 541.

s 541. Representation Known To Be Or Obviously False.

The recipient of a fraudulent misrepresentation is not justified in relying upon its truth if he knows that it is false or its falsity is obvious to him.

Continuing, the Third District referred to Comment a. under Section 541 which example states:

Thus, if one induces another to buy a horse by representing it to be sound, the purchaser can not recover even though the horse has but one eye, if the horse is shown to the purchaser before he buys it and the slightest inspection would have disclosed the defect.

The <u>Pressman</u> court concluded that the home for sale in that case was the functional equivalent of a one-eyed horse and purchaser's recovery was barred accordingly. <u>Pressman</u>, 732 So.2d at 360. The exact same analysis bars PURCHASERS' claims in this case. The Third District specifically held that the purchaser's accusation that sellers told her that a building posing an obstacle to her view would be removed, <u>failed</u> to state a basis for relief.

In Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997), Purchasers brought an action against Vendor for recission of contract after discovering the property was located in an area with seasonal flooding. In affirming the trial court's Judgment for Vendor, the Third District held that the Vendor had no duty to disclose the flood-prone nature of the property to Purchasers. The court observed that Dade County's regulations requiring that homes in such area be built on elevations to avoid interior flooding, were duly enacted and a matter of Public Record. Their availability in the Public Records showed that the information was within the diligent attention of any Buyer. Thus, the Buyers claim for recission was correctly denied. The Nelson court specifically found that Dade County's flood criteria were included within the rule that

owners of Real Property are deemed to have purchased it with knowledge of the applicable land used regulations. Nelson, 699 So.2d at 264 n. 4. Thus, even assuming an alleged "misrepresentation" regarding the two (2) parcels was made by an agent of M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC., the same cannot be the basis for a claim of actionable fraud. The trial court correctly dismissed the Complaint with prejudice. PURCHASERS, like it or not, are charged with knowledge of the Public Records and cannot now be heard to complain that they were misled.

Clearly, the PURCHASERS in the case at bar were in an equal position with M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC. to know of the Public Records and the Site Plan. PURCHASERS are charged with that very knowledge. It is indisputable that the Site Plan (A5) was available in the Public Records of Palm Beach County at the time each of the PURCHASERS entered into their respective Agreement For Sale Of House And Lot. PURCHASERS concede that the Site Plan was contained within the public records of various respective governmental offices including the Palm Beach County Engineering Department, Palm Beach County Health Department, Palm Beach County Attorney, Palm Beach County Zoning Division, and Palm Beach County Building Division.

The problem with the <u>Azam</u> Opinion is that it eschews the "bright line rule" applicable to statements concerning the public record, in favor of a "case-by-case"

analysis when the same can have no other legitimate effect than to throw uncertainty into commercial transactions for no legitimate purpose. It virtually absolves the Buyer of any due diligence obligation relative to the commercial transaction. That result is unwarranted and adds unnecessary instability to this area of the law. For example, the purchase of a home, for most Americans, is the single largest investment they will make. Due diligence, or diligent investigation and attention is appropriate to such a transaction. The decision of the Fourth District flies in the face of common sense. Moreover, the various governmental offices which contained the Site Plan are not located in the "bowels of the courthouse", but are the very public offices any prudent person, closing agent or attorney would consult in performing their due diligence investigation with respect to a transaction relating to the purchase of a home.

Azam needlessly interjects a factual determination into the equation. Sections 540 and 541 of the Restatement Second of Torts were adopted by the Florida Supreme Court as its holding in Besset, 389 So.2d at 998. Moreover, it is clear from PURCHASERS' Complaint, to which the Site Plan was appended, that the alleged misrepresentation was "obviously false" as that terms was illustrated in comment a. to Section 540, and comment a. to Section 541.

The decision in <u>Azam</u> is also problematic because it implicitly suggests a different standard should apply if the Seller is a M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES, INC.. No rationale is offered for this disparate treatment, nor is one readily apparent.

Azam court reiterated the elements for fraud in the inducement. The fourth element requires "justifiable reliance." But according to <u>Besset supra</u>, no justifiable reliance can occur if falsity is obvious. This Honorable Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to correct these conflicts created by the <u>Azam</u> decision.

CONCLUSION

The decision in the present case, as indicated within the body of the Opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, conflicts with the cases of Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3rd DCA), rev. denied, 744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999), Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258, 261 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997), as well as this Court's holding in Besset v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1980). Accordingly, this Honorable Court should accept jurisdiction, should clarify the law, and should hold that Pressman and Besset are the

law of Florida, and reinstate the judgment of the trial court, dismissing the Complaint with prejudice.