**ORIGINAL**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**  
THOMAS D. HALL

SEP 13 2000

M/I SCHOTTENSTEIN HOMES,  
INC., a Florida corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No.: SC00-1582 CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
BY Dy

Fourth DCA Case No.: 4D99-2898

Florida Bar No.: 0843008

NASAD AZAM, SAFEETIA AZAM,  
TOM BELL, HOPE BELL, SCOTT  
M. DOLBEARE, MARY E. RYAN,  
ASIF ISLAM, REBECCA ISLAM,  
CHARLES KATZLER, SUSAN  
KATZLER, LOUIS LAMM, DARA  
LAMM, EDWARD McCUALEY,  
JEANETTE McCUALEY, and  
ARTHUR SHUSHAN,

Respondents

/

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW  
FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

---

**RESPONSE OF RESPONDENTS ON JURISDICTION**

NASAD AZAM, SAFEETIA AZAM, ETC., ET.AL.,

## **STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS**

The Respondents, NASAD AZAM, SAFEEIA AZAM, etc., et. al., would, for the most part, agree with, and adopt the Petitioner's Statement of Case and Facts. The Petitioner's Statement of Case and Facts is essentially correct. However, it is incomplete. The Respondents would add the following important and distinguishing facts to their Statement of Case and Facts.

Between the dates of December of 1995 and August of 1998, each of the families who are the Respondents to this Petition entered into an "Agreement for Sale of House and Lot" with the Petitioner. Each and every one of those Agreements were attached to the initial Complaint as exhibits in the Lower Court. A representative copy of those Agreements is included herein in the Appendix to this Response to the Petition on Jurisdiction.

The "Agreement for Sale of House and Lot" is included in the Appendix to this Response to the Petition on Jurisdiction to underscore the ultimate distinguishing fact to the Petition for Jurisdiction: none of the residential real estate transactions with the Respondents were "As Is" sales.

The Respondents filed a complaint against the developer and seller of those homes in the Lower Court. The initial Complaint state causes of action for (1) Fraud in the Inducement, (2) Recission, and (3) Negligence. The Lower Court dismissed

all three causes of action with prejudice upon the authority of Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA), review denied, (744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999).

The Respondents appealed the ruling of the Lower Court to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed and remanded the ruling of the Lower Court regarding the cause of action for Fraud in the Inducement. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the ruling of the Lower Court regarding the causes of action for Recission and Negligence.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal did not certify a conflict with either the decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal in the cases of Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997) or Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA), review denied, (744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999).

The Petitioners now seek to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to recognize just such a conflict with the cases of Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997) and Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA), review denied, (744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999), or, in the alternative, with this Court's prior ruling in Basset v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1980).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The case at bar is factually distinguishable from the cases in which the

Petitioner argues there is grounds for discretionary jurisdiction on the basis of conflict. The ruling of the Fourth District Court of Appeal stated that it is a pure factual determination whether the purchaser of real estate can rely upon the representations of the seller regarding facts which are in the public record. The facts of this case warranted such a reliance on the representation of the seller where the facts of the Third District Court of Appeals did not. Factually distinguishable cases, and the application of the principles of law to varying factual circumstances cannot form the basis to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. The Supreme Court of the State of Florida has not issued a ruling which conflicts with the case at bar, and in fact, the case cited by the Petitioner was relied upon by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in rendering their decision. As such, the Petition for Jurisdiction should be dismissed.

## **ARGUMENT**

The general rule is that in order for the Supreme Court of the State of Florida to have discretionary subject matter jurisdiction over any decision of a district court of appeal it must “expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.” Times Publishing Company v. Russell, 615 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1993). If the decision of the district court of appeal does not present the necessary express and direct conflict, the

supreme court lacks the jurisdiction to decide the case. *Id.* at 158.

The “express and direct” conflict must appear within the four corners of the majority decision of the case to be reviewed by this Court. *Dept. of Heath v. Nat. Adoption Counseling*, 498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986). In other words, inherent or implied conflicts cannot serve as a basis for invoking this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction. *Id.* at 889.

An “express conflict” is usually demonstrated when the district court of appeal either certifies a conflict to the supreme court or identifies a direct conflict with another district court of appeal within the body of their ruling. *Ford Motor Company v. Kikis*, 401 So.2d 1341 (Fla. 1981). If neither of those conditions exists, and they do not in the case at bar, then the legal principles applied by the district court must supply a sufficient basis for invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court. *Id.* at 1342.

Conflict Jurisdiction can be invoked by such a legal principle, even if it is as minimal as dicta. See, *Garcia v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp.*, 444 So.2d 538 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1984).

However, if the ruling of the district court of appeal that is sought to be reviewed lacks precedential value, and is merely adjudicating the rights of the litigants, then there does not exist a conflict to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction

of this Court. Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington, 339 So.2d 200 (Fla. 1976). Indeed, if the decisions of the district court of appeal is factually distinguishable from the opinions of the other district courts of appeal, there is no conflict. Wilson v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 327 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1976); Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Naturally, cases addressing completely different propositions at law are not in conflict. Curry v. State, 682 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1996).

In the case at bar, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in rendering their ruling in Azam v. M/I Schottenstein, 2000 WL 827238 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA June 28, 2000) neither certified a conflict to this honorable court, nor identified a direct conflict with the Third District Court of Appeal with either Pressman v. Wolf, 732 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA), review denied, (744 So.2d 459 (Fla. 1999) or Nelson v. Wiggs, 699 So.2d 258 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1997). They did not alter, overrule or explain those cases.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal did rule that it is a question of fact whether the purchaser of real estate can rely upon the representation of the seller about something that is in the public record to state a cause of action for Fraud in the Inducement. The Fourth District Court of Appeal ruled that the facts of the case at bar *were* sufficient for the purchaser of real estate can rely upon the representation of the seller about something that is in the public record , and state a cause of action for

Fraud in the Inducement. Specifically, the Court ruled that a buyer's duty to use due diligence and discover adverse facts in the public records is an issue of fact which should weigh such factors of the reasonableness of the buyer's reliance upon the seller's representations about the public records, whether the seller is a developer, and the nature of the public record. The Fourth District Court actually relied upon, and quoted this Court's ruling in Besset v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995, 998 (Fla. 1980), which stated, "a recipient may rely on the truth of a representation, even though its falsity could have been ascertained had he made an investigation, unless he knows the representation to be false or its falsity is obvious to him.

Thus, it cannot be overstated that although each of the Third District Court of Appeals cases and the case at bar all involved information in the public records impacting a real estate transaction, the similarity stops there. The case at bar is factually distinguishable from those cases, and the Fourth District Court of Appeal applied the principles of law disputed by the Petitioner to a completely different set of facts. Under the cases cited above, these circumstances cannot invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. The transactions in the Third District Court of Appeal cases involved "as is" sales of residential real estate by sellers who were *not* developers. The transaction in the case at bar is a fully warrantied sale by a developer. The two varying circumstances represent a different level of due diligence

on the part of the buyer to discover adverse information in the public record.

To that extent the opinion of this Court in Besset v. Basnett, 389 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1980) is exactly on point. It does not conflict with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal who actually applied the facts of this case to the legal principles contained therein. Interestingly enough, it was the Respondents herein and not the Petitioner, who cited and used this Court's ruling in Besset in support of their argument in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The claim of a conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal is the first time the Petitioner has sought to use Besset in any respect.

This Court's ruling in Besset turns upon the factual determination of whether a representation is obviously false. In the Pressman case, the factual issue is whether the buyer's view would be blocked by another building. When the buyer bought the real estate the view was *already* blocked by a building, and the seller, the former owner, represented that the city planned to tear down the building. In Pressman the representation was of an obvious falsity to where the buyer could not rely upon the representation. In Nelson, the representation was whether the real estate was in a flood plain. The court found that it was obviously in a flood plain from the facts on the record. The same result ensued. The court in Besset could not determine whether the representation was of such falsity to preclude reliance upon the representation,

thus the ruling of this Court.

The Petitioner suggests that the representation in this case was obviously false. In the case at bar the subject parcel of property was already a natural preserve at the time the Respondents purchased their homes. The representation by the seller/developer was that it would always be a natural preserve. The Fourth District Court of Appeal has already determined that the representation was not obvious, and thus the application of Besset. The Petitioner is asking this Court to do a de novo review to determine that the representation was obvious. It is improper to disturb the ruling of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this type of forum.

There is no conflict between the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Third District Court pf Appeal or the Florida Supreme Court to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The Respondents strongly urge this Court to follow the case law cited above and rule there is no basis for discretionary jurisdiction. The Respondents strongly urge this Court to dismiss the Petition on Jurisdiction.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons cited above, the Respondents urge this Court to dismiss the Petition on Jurisdiction.